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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 98-721-CR-LENARD(s)(s)

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
VvS.

RUBEN CAMPA
a/ka Fernando Gonzalez Llort,

/

DEFENDANT’S SENTENCING MEMORANDUM OF LAW

Defendant Ruben Campa (who will be referred to by his true name: Fernando Gonzalez
Llort, or Mr. Gonzalez), through undersigned counsel and pursuant to Rule 32(d) of the Federal
Rules of Criminal Procedure and the additional authorities set forth in the incorporated
memorandum of law, submits this memorandum of law in connection with his re-sentencing
hearing, which is scheduled to take place on December 8, 2009.

BACKGROUND.

On June 8, 2001, following a lengthy trial, Mr. Gonzalez was found guilty of: a)
conspiracy against the United States (Count 1), in violation of 18 USC § 371; b) fraud and misuse
of documents (Count 7), in violation of 18 USC § 1546, ¢) possession with intent to use five or
more fraudulent identification documents (Count 8), in violation of 18 USC § 1028(a)(3), and d)
acting as an agent of a foreign government without prior notification (Counts 16 and 17), in
violation of 18 USC § 951.

On December 17, 2001, at Mr. Gonzalez’s original sentencing hearing, this Court
generally adopted the factual and legal recommendations of the Pre-Sentence Investigation report

(“PSI”). However, the Court amended the PSI to reflect that Count 1, a violation of 18 USC §
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371, had no analogous guideline provision and should not be grouped with Counts 7 and 8. The
probation officer had recommended that those counts be grouped for sentencing purposes. This
Court then sentenced Mr. Gonzalez to a total of 228 months in prison (60 months as to Count 1 and
120 months as to each of Counts 16 and 17, concurrently to each other but consecutive to Count 1,

plus 48 months and 36 months as to Counts 7 and 8, respectively, to run concurrently with each

other but consecutive to Counts 1 and 16).

On June 4, 2008, after a series of appeals, a panel of the Court of Appeals upheld Mr.
Gonzalez’s convictions but vacated his sentence as to Counts 7 and 8.  The Court of Appeals held
that this Court should not have enhanced his sentence by 3 levels under Section 3B1.1(b), which
provides for such an “aggravating role” increase for a person who is a “manager or supervisor and
the criminal activity involved five or more persons.” Based on the government’s request, this
Court had applied the “aggravating role” enhancement to Mr. Gonzalez’s conviction on the
fraudulent documents offenses.

On September 4, 2009, the probation officer assigned to this re-sentencing prepared a

supplemental addendum to the PSI, reflecting the applicable guideline calculations consistent with
the decision of the Court of Appeals. The addendum correctly points out that, with a total offense
level 20 and a criminal history category I, the advisory guideline range is now 33 to 41 months in
prison.  If this Court were to sentence Mr. Gonzalez at the bottom end of his advisory guideline
range, Mr. Gonzalez would be sentenced to a total term of imprisonment of 213 months.

Based on the Supreme Court’s holding in United States v. Booker, 543 U.S. 220 (2005), the

federal sentencing process now follows a three step approach. See generally Fed. R. Crim. P.

1I(b)(1)(M). First, the Court is to resolve any disputed guideline issues and determine the
advisory guideline range. Here, the parties agree that the revised guideline calculations presented
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by the probation officer in her addendum are correct. However, Mr. Gonzalez requests that the
Court order that any sentence the Court now imposes on Counts 7 and 8 run concurrently, rather
than consecutively, to the remaining total sentence of 180 months in prison previously imposed on
Counts 1, 16, and 17. The government acknowledges that this Court has the authority to run the
sentences concurrently, but asks the Court not to do so. See Government’s Memorandum (DE
1769) at 9-10.

The second step in the sentencing process is for the Court is to consider whether there are
any factors that may warrant a departure from the advisory guideline range. Here, there are several
factors that may warrant a downward departure from the putative guideline range of 33 to 41
months in prison. However, these concerns, none of which would constitute “prohibited factors”
under the traditional departure analysis, may best be treated under the Booker analysis.

Thus, as the final step in the sentencing process, the Court is to consider all of the
sentencing factors of 18 USC § 3553(a) and impose a sentence which is “reasonable” and not
greater than necessary to achieve the sentencing objectives set forth in 18 USC § 3553(a). Here,
Mr. Gonzalez contends there are several factors that warrant a downward variance from his
advisory guideline of 33 to 41 months in prison.  Mr. Gonzalez will withdraw this request if the
Court agrees to run the new sentence concurrently with the existing 180-month term of
imprisonment.

II. RESPONSE TO THE PSIL.
A. Amendment to the PSI.
Mr. Gonzalez requests that this Court order an important amendment to his PSI, which does
not affect his applicable sentencing guidelines, but is necessary to ensure that the PSI that follows

Mr. Gonzalez throughout his term of imprisonment does not contain unnecessary information that
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may adversely impact him within the Bureau of Prisons (“BOP™).

On December 18, 2001 (see Transcript of Sentencing Hearing “Tr.” at pages 39-40), this
Court ordered that paragraphs 56 through 65 of the PSI be stricken from the victim impact section
and paragraph 55 remain but modified. These changes, however, have yet to be made to the PSI
and Mr. Gonzalez again requests that the Offense Conduct section (paragraphs 14 through 20) and
the Victim Impact Section (paragraphs 55 through 66) of the PSI and their references to incidents
involving the Brothers to the Rescue (‘BTTR™) be deleted. The information as to Brothers to the
Rescue does not represent convicted conduct, nor has it ever been alleged as conduct relevant
(under § 1B1.3) to Mr. Gonzalez. The continued presence of this information in Mr. Gonzalez’s PSI
has adversely affected him, and will continue to adversely affect him, within the BOP system.

B. Request for Concurrent Sentences.

As he awaits re-sentencing on Counts 7 and 8, Mr. Gonzalez is already serving a 180-month
total term of imprisonment on the remaining counts. Mr. Gonzalez is not asking the Court to
revisit the combined term of 180 months he is serving on Counts 1, 16, and 17. He is, however,
consistent with the probation officer’s original recommendation, asking the Court to run whatever
sentence is imposed on the remaining counts concurrently with the 180-month term.

Counts 7 and 8 are inextricably intertwined with Count 1. Mr. Gonzalez’s request for
concurrent sentences on Counts 1, 7 and 8, therefore, is strongly supported by the applicable law.
For example, 18 USC § 3584(a) establishes a presumption in favor of concurrent sentences under
the circumstances of this case. Section 3584(a) states that, “[m]ultiple terms of imprisonment
imposed at the same time run concurrently unless the court orders or the statute mandates that the
terms are to run consecutively.” See Section 3D1.2 (“All counts involving substantially the same

harm shall be grouped together into a single Group.”); see also Section 3D1.2 application note 8
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(convictions for conspiring to commit offense A and for actually committing offense A are grouped
together).

An example of a statute mandating that the terms run consecutively is 18 U.S.C. §
924(c)(1)(A) (requiring consecutive sentences for persons possessing a firearm during and in
relation to a drug trafficking or violent offense.) An example of when the court is otherwise
required to run sentences consecutively is when doing so is necessary to provide the term of
imprisonment required by the applicable sentencing guidelines. See U.S.S.G. § 5G1.2(d)(“If the
sentence imposed on the count carrying the highest statutory maximum is less than the total
punishment, the sentence imposed on one or more of the other counts shall run consecutively, but
only to the extent necessary to produce a combined sentence equal to the total punishment. In all
other respects, sentences are to run concurrently, except to the extent otherwise required by law.”
Neither situation requiring consecutive sentences was present when Mr. Gonzalez was originally
sentenced, and neither situation exists now.

In addition, 18 USC § 3584(b) provides that, “[t]he court, in determining whether the terms
imposed are to be ordered to run concurrently or consecutively, shall consider, as to each offense
for which a term of imprisonment is being imposed, the factors set forth in 18 USC § 3553(a). In
the case of attempt offenses, which are somewhat analogous to conspiracy offenses in that actual
harm may not have been caused, the statute is more determinative: “Terms may not run
consecutively for an attempt and for another offense that was the sole object of the attempt.” See
18 USC § 3584(a); see also 18 USC § 3553(b)(1)(“in the absence of an applicable sentencing
guideline in the case of an offense other than a petty offense, the court shall also have due regard for
the relationship of the sentence imposed to sentences prescribed by guidelines applicable to similar
offenses and offenders, and to the applicable policy statements of the Sentencing Guidelines.”).
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On appeal, the Court of Appeals specifically addressed the “aggravating role” adjustment
issue. However, nothing in the decision of the Court of Appeals prevents the Court from
reconsidering its earlier decision to run his sentences on the remaining counts consecutively to the
180 months he is also serving. The government agrees that the Court has the authority to do so.

Mr. Gonzalez’s request is based on a straightforward application of the guidelines and the
applicable law. It is also based on the possibility that his original total sentence of 228 months in
prison, which followed the government’s outlandish request for a total term of 357 months and
resulted from this Court’s decision to stack the sentences on closely related offenses, may have
been too influenced at that time by the Court’s findings of fact and conclusions of law concerning
the sentencings of two of his co-defendants, Luis Medina and Antonio Guerrero, who were
convicted of espionage-related offenses.

Thus, although Mr. Gonzalez is not asking the Court to reconsider the 180-month portion of
his total sentence, his request for concurrent sentences now (or, in the alternative, for a downward
variance that results in a total term of imprisonment of approximately 180 months) requires
recalling how that sentence was determined and how the decision to run the sentences on related
counts consecutively was originally made.

The Court may recall that in the Offense Level Computation section of Mr. Gonzalez’s
original PSI (dated December 11, 2001), the probation officer cited § 1B1.2(d) and concluded that
Count 1 contained two objects: a) having acted as an agent of a foreign government, and b) having
defrauded the United States. See PSI at P 71. According to the PSI, however, “[t]his is not a
problem in this case since the defendant has been charged with two counts of having violated 18
USC § 951, and the Court may sentence him as to these charges without any guideline application.
The second part of the offense addressed in Count One is defrauding of the United States and these
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illegal acts will be addressed in the grouping associated with Counts Seven and Eight.” See PSI at
P71. Indeed, the original PSI (at P 73) grouped Counts 1, 7 and 8, pursuant to § 3D1.1(b), and
produced a base offense level of 11, pursuant to § 2L.2.1(a). Consistent with this recommendation,
the PSI (at P 113) provided the statutory penalties for each count of conviction without stating the
possibility, let alone the applicability, of consecutive sentences. For example, the PSI specifically
stated that the guideline imprisonment range of 46 to 57 months “applies only to Counts One, Seven
and Eight.” See PSI at P114.

In its initial response to the PSI (DE 1417; dated December 10, 2001), the government did
not object to the probation officer’s grouping recommendation. However, on December 17,2001,
the morning of the sentencing hearing, the government filed a sentencing memorandum of law
(DE1431) in which, for the first time as to this defendant, the government referred to Count 1, along
with Counts 16 and 17, as “non-guideline” counts. The government then also requested that Mr.
Gonzalez be sentenced to a total of 357 months in prison, an exceedingly harsh sentence which
could only be achieved by imposing both maximum and consecutive sentences on each of the three
counts it identified as non-guideline counts.

At Mr. Gonzalez’s sentencing hearing, undersigned counsel objected to what amounted to
an untimely objection by the government to the PSI. See Tr. at 25 (“In essence, what the
government is doing quite simply is tacitly objecting now at the eleventh hour to the probation
officer’s recommendation, paragraph 73 of the PSI, that counts 1, 7 and 8 be grouped. By
requesting that the Court consider stacking the five year sentence applicable to Count 1 to the other
counts, it is objecting to the grouping of Count 1 with Counts 7 and 8.”). Undersigned counsel
admits counsel was surprised by the government’s last-minute objection and was ill-prepared to

make the strongest possible argument in support of the probation officer’s position.
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